A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred by admitting unfairly prejudicial and 

irrelevant evidence of appellant's past involvement in prostitution. 12RPI 

388-89. 

2. The trial court erred by instructing the jury they could 

consider appellant's prior convictions in assessing his credibility when the 

convictions were not admitted for impeachment purposes. CP 62 

(instruction 4). 

3. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the 

credibility instruction when there was no basis for suggesting the jurors 

could consider the prior conviction as impeachment evidence. 

4. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to propose a 

404(b i evidence limiting instruction. 

I This brief refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: 1 RP -
September 9, 2013; 2RP - September 10, 2013; 3RP - September 11, 
2013; 4RP - September 12, 2013; 5RP - September 16, 2013; 6RP -
September 17,2013; 7RP - September 18,2013; 8RP - September 19, 
2013; 9RP - September 23, 2013; 10RP - September 24, 2013; llRP -
September 25, 2013; 12RP - September 26 & 27, 2013; 13RP -
September 30, 2013; 14RP - November 1,2013. 

2 The rule provides: Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not 
admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in 
conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, 
such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, 
identity, or absence of mistake or accident. 
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Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Appellant testified that he lived a destructive lifestyle 

during a prior "bad" relationship. 12RP 306. Over defense objection, the 

trial court found this testimony opened the door to further questioning by 

the prosecutor about appellant's involvement in prostitution during the 

relationship. Did the trial court err by admitting the unfairly prejudicial 

and irrelevant evidence where appellant's explanation was nothing more 

than a mere passing reference to a prior relationship? 

2. Appellant was charged with first degree assault for an 

alleged incident with his girlfriend. Over defense objection, the trial court 

admitted evidence appellant had two prior assault convictions under 

several exceptions to ER 404(b). The prior assaults were not offered or 

admitted under ER 609(a)3 as impeachment evidence. The trial court 

however, instructed the jury it could consider appellant's prior convictions 

for purposes of determining the credibility of his testimony. Was 

3 ER 609(a) states: "For the purpose of attacking the credibility of a 
witness in a criminal or civil case, evidence that the witness has been 
convicted of a crime shall be admitted if elicited from the witness or 
established by public record during examination of the witness but only if 
the crime (l) was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of 1 year 
under the law under which the witness was convicted, and the court 
determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs 
the prejudice to the party against whom the evidence is offered, or (2) 
involved dishonesty or false statement, regardless of the punishment." 



appellant denied his constitutional right to effective representation when 

defense counsel failed to object to this erroneous instruction? 

3. The trial court offered to give a limiting instruction after 

admitting appellant's two prior assault convictions under ER 404(b). 

Defense counsel failed to request a limiting instruction or clarify she did 

not want an instruction. Defense counsel instead stated she could not 

remember whether she wanted an instruction and explained appellant's 

intent to discuss the prior convictions during his testimony. Where proper 

limiting instructions could have sufficiently mitigated the harm from the 

404(b) evidence while still permitting explanation of the circumstances of 

the prior convictions, was appellant denied his constitutional right to 

. effective representation when defense counsel failed to propose the 

instructions? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Procedural History 

The King County prosecutor charged appellant Roosevelt Reed 

with one count of first degree assault with a family or household member, 

for an incident with Jane Gregory on September 5, 2012. CP 1-8. Ajury 

found Reed guilty. CP 80. The jury also returned special verdicts finding 

the assault was an aggravated domestic violence offense and Reed 

committed the assault shortly after being released from prison. CP 81-82. 



Based on the special verdicts, the trial court imposed an 

exceptional sentence of360 months in prison. CP 93-103; 14RP 25. The 

trial court also imposed 36 months of community custody. Id. Reed 

timely appeals. CP 104. 

2. Trial Testimony 

Appellant Roosevelt Reed first met Jane Gregory in the nineteen-

eighties. 6RP 63-64; 12RP 303-04. Gregory ended the relationship when 

she learned Reed was involved in another relationship. 12RP 304, 360. In 

2008, Gregory and Reed reconnected after Reed learned he and Gregory 

had a daughter together. 6RP 64-65; 12RP 304-05, 360. 

That daughter, Hope Darnell, along with Gregory, and Darnell's 

children regularly visited Reed in prison4 over the next four years. 6RP 

63, 65-68; 7RP 407. Reed was released from prison in April 2012 and 

moved into a Des Moines apartment with Gregory a short time later. 6RP 

69-70; 12RP 307, 310, 313-14, 359. Reed complied with his community 

custody conditions after being released from prison. 9RP 109. He 

maintained stable employment and housing and checked in once monthly 

with his community corrections officer, Stacy Westberg. 9RP 88-89. 

4 Reed was in prison for a 1999 conviction for first degree assault. 12RP 
307,360,366. 



After moving in together, Gregory and Reed had "minor arguments 

over little things." 6RP 70. One time, Reed slapped Gregory on the chin. 

Gregory believed the incident was an accident. 6RP 76, 106; 7RP 72-73, 

91,95. There were no shoving or pushing incidents between Gregory and 

Reed. 6RP 106. 

On September 4,2012 Reed received permission from Westberg to 

travel to Spokane with Gregory to visit Darnell and her children. 7RP 7; 

9RP 90. During the visit, Darnell believed Reed was controlling and 

would get angry about small things. 7RP 8. Darnell also noticed Reed 

spent time text messaging. 7RP 8. Darnell saw Reed giggle during one 

text message conversation and learned Reed was joking about a prior 

assault. 7RP 9-10. Darnell did not know the entire context of the text 

message conversation. 7RP 29. Darnell told Gregory about the text 

messaging but could not remember if she told her about the context of 

Reed's messaging. 6RP 73-74; 7RP 10. 

On the way home, Gregory confronted Reed about the text 

messaging, telling him to be more involved in visiting Darnell. Gregory 

also told Reed it was not funny to joke about assaulting someone. 6RP 74; 

7RP 77. Gregory said Reed's demeanor changed and he became angry. 

Gregory believed Reed might hit her. 6RP 75. When Reed stopped the 
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car, Gregory got out. Reed drove away without Gregory but returned after 

she threatened to call police. 6RP 75-76. 

The next day, Reed called in sick to work. Gregory explained she 

and Reed went a cousin's apartment and then got lunch. 6RP 77, 99-102; 

7RP 65. Gregory then took Reed to his meeting with Westberg. 6RP 77, 

102; 7RP 65. Reed was calm, happy, and smiling when he met with 

Westberg. 9RP 92-93, 103. He did not mention any problems with 

Gregory. 9RP 99. Westberg told Reed that in the future he needed to be 

responsible for obtaining his own travel permits. Reed's body language 

changed and Westberg believed he was angry. Reed told Westberg all 

future communication would only be between the two of them. 9RP 93 . 

. Westberg believed Reed left the office by 4 p.m. 9RP 94, 111. Gregory 

said Reed's meeting with Westberg lasted about ten minutes. 6RP 103-04. 

Gregory and Reed returned to the apartment after the meeting with 

Westberg. They began arguing about money and possibly Reed's text 

messagmg from the day before. 6RP 77, 104-05; 7RP 65-66. Reed 

pushed Gregory and she pushed back. 6RP 78-79, 84, 105-06; 7RP 72. 

When Gregory told Reed they had agreed not fight, Reed pushed her more 

firmly. In response Gregory "snatched his [Reed] chain off his neck." 

6RP 78-79, 84, 105-07; 7RP 72. Gregory could not remember what 
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happened next. 6RP 78-79, 83-84, 97, 107-08; 7RP 72, 75. She did not 

specifically remember Reed hitting her. 6RP 112-13. 

Reed called 911. 6RP 23. When officers arrived at the apartment, 

Gregory had swollen cheeks, lips, and blood on her head and face. 6RP 

14, 42-43. Officer Kevin Montgomery described Gregory's injuries as 

"severe" but not life threatening. 6RP 14, 23. Gregory had difficulty 

talking and was hard to understand. 6RP 15,23,44, 57. Gregory had six 

fractures to her cheekbone, eye socket, and nasal bone. 6RP 85, 93; 7RP 

102-03. 

Police saw no signs of forced entry into the apartment.6RP 27, 

49-50. Nothing was missing. 6RP 25-26, 50. There was blood on the 

apartment carpet, kitchen sink, and clothing items. 6RP 16, 20-22, 31, 33. 

Police seized a broken vase which may have been used defensively or as a 

weapon. 6RP 49, 57. No fingerprints or DNA were found on the vase. 

6RP 56; 9RP 115. 

Reed told Montgomery that he left the apartment between 12:30 

and 1 :00 p.m. to meet with a friend and attend his meeting with Westberg. 

Reed found Gregory when he returned home around 4:00 p.m. When 

Montgomery asked about the time between when Reed discovered 

Gregory and called police, Reed explained he had also picked up a car 
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from a friend. Reed was cooperative and answered all questions. 6RP 23-

25, 29. He was not arrested. 6RP 29, 50, 53, 58. 

Gregory voluntarily left the hospital the next day and returned to 

the apartment she shared with Reed. 6RP 80, 82, 112. Reed called 

Westberg on September 7 and told her Gregory had been assaulted. 9RP 

95-96. Gregory declined Westberg's offer of assistance. 9RP 97-98. 

Shortly thereafter, Reed obtained permission to travel to Whidbey Island 

with Gregory. 9RP 96-97, 105-06. 

Gregory told Darnell she received the injuries from a car accident. 

6RP 84-85; 7RP 14, 32, 76. Darnell did not believe Gregory and 

suspected the injuries resulted from domestic violence. 6RP 85; 7RP 15, 

32-33. Darnell traveled to Des Moines to help Gregory. 6RP 85-86; 7RP 

17, 67. Gregory was able to drive Darnell to and from the train station. 

7RP 36-37. 

After Darnell arrived, Gregory told her she was injured by Reed 

and wanted to leave. 6RP 86; 7RP 19-20. After Gregory's car broke 

down however, Darnell called Reed to ask him to fix it. 7RP 21-22. Reed 

told Darnell he hit Gregory because he had nothing to loose and she 

jeopardized his freedom. 7RP 29, 39-40. Reed told Darnell he "messed 

up," and had anger issues. 7RP 23, 39. Darnell took Gregory back to the 
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hospital before leaving for Spokane. 7RP 24, 38, 74. Darnell did not call 

police or Westberg to report the alleged incident. 7RP 27-28,38-41. 

Over the next several weeks, Gregory had surgery to place crews 

and plates in her cheekbone, nose, and eye socket. Gregory's nose was 

shifted and held in place with a splint. Plastic was placed under Gregory's 

eye socket to prevent it from drooping. 7RP 99-107. Surgeon Craig 

Birgfeld believed Gregory's injuries were consistent with blunt force 

trauma. 7RP 112-13. 

Reed moved out of the shared apartment on September 20. 6RP 

87. Four days later, Gregory told advocate Angela Croker that Reed 

caused her injuries. 7RP 61; 9RP 33-41. Gregory did not provide Croker 

with any details of the incident and did not report the incident to police. 

7RP 61; 9RP 40. Gregory continued to have headaches, double vision, 

facial numbness, and difficulty opening her right eye. 6RP 88-90; 9RP 

110-12. She acknowledged lying to police about the incident. 7RP 69. 

Reed was arrested on October 3. 12RP 381. Police seized Reed's 

phone and concluded it received signals from cell towers across the street 

from the apartments between 4:34 and 5:21 p.m. the day of the incident. 

8RP 34-38. Reed made telephone calls to his brother, Precious Reed, 

from the apartment shortly after the incident. 11 RP 153-54, 158, 166-68, 

199-200; 12RP 339, 341, 378, 393, 399. Reed told Precious that 



something had happened to Gregory and needed to come to the apartment. 

llRP 158, 173, 176-77, 210. Precious' wife, Shantel Smith-Reed, 

reported Reed as telling Precious, "I think 1 killed the bitch." 9RP 6, 8, 

17,27. Gregory later told Smith-Reed that Reed had injured her. 9RP 13. 

Precious denied Reed had told him he though he had killed 

Gregory. llRP 180, 185. Precious explained any conflicting statements 

he gave to police were the result of his drug and alcohol use. 11 RP 155, 

159-61, 189-91, 206. Precious later collected Reed's belongings, 

including his cell phone, to prevent them from getting damaged. llRP 

162-63,194-95,217. 

Reed denied assaulting Gregory. 12RP 356. Reed explained he 

requested the day off work and left the apartment to meet his friend Joe 

Kelley. 12RP 330-32, 334-35. Gregory was at the apartment when Reed 

left. 12RP 333. Reed met Kelley at a car wash and then they went to 

lunch. 11 RP 276-77, 282-84; 12RP 334-35. After lunch, Reed left his car 

at Kelley's house. Kelley drove Reed to his meeting with Westberg. 

llRP 278; 12RP 336, 363. Reed arrived at Westberg's office around 3: 10 

p.m. but did not meet with her until about 3:30 p.m. 12RP 336-37. 

Kelley explained he waited in the car for over an hour while Reed 

met with Westberg. llRP 278, 287. After the meeting with Westberg, 

Reed picked up his car and returned to his apartment. 11 RP 280, 287-89; 
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12RP 339, 364. Reed found Gregory surrounded by blood on the floor of 

the apartment. Reed gave Gregory first aid and called Precious. 12RP 

339, 370. Reed told Precious someone had almost killed the "bitch." 

12RP 339, 341, 378, 393, 399. Reed explained "bitch" was a term of 

endearment. 12RP 341, 385. 

Gregory told Reed she saw a flash of blue when she opened the 

apartment door. Someone then asked Gregory for money and car keys. 

12RP 340. Reed believed the incident was connected to other crime in the 

area. He waited to call 911 so he could give Gregory first-aid and 

research prior crime incidents. 12RP 341-42, 371, 373. 

Reed took care of Gregory over the next several weeks. 12RP 346. 

Gregory ended the relationship on September 20. 12RP 348. Reed 

acknowledged prior assault convictions from 1993 and 1999. He 

explained those incidents stemmed from bad relationships and his use of 

drugs and alcohol. 12RP 306-07, 364-69. He acknowledged text 

messaging about the 1993 incident during the visit with Darnell, but 

denied laughing about it. 12RP 326-29. Reed explained he had decided to 

change his life after his release from prison in April 2012. 12RP 307, 360, 

366. 

-! 1· 



3. 404(b) Evidence 

Before trial, the State sought to introduce evidence that Reed was 

convicted of third degree assault in 1993 and first degree assault in 1999. 

The State also sought to admit evidence that before Gregory's alleged 

assault, Reed had slapped, pushed, and covered Gregory's face with a 

pillow. The State explained the day before the alleged incident Reed had 

joked with another person via text message about the 1993 assault and 

Gregory was aware of that text message and Reed's prior assault 

convictions. 3RP 2-4, 8-12; Supp. CP _ (sub no. 68A, State's Trial 

Memorandum at 19-20). 

The State argued the prior incidents were admissible under ER 

404(b) to explain: Gregory's delay in reporting the charged incident, 

Gregory's fear of Reed, and Gregory's credibility and why she initially 

lied about who assaulted her. The State also argued the prior incidents 

were admissible under ER 404(b) to explain Reed and Gregory's 

relationship and to show Reed's motive for committing the alleged assault 

through increasing hostility toward Gregory. 3RP 9-12; Supp. CP _ 

(sub no. 68B, State's Supplemental Memorandum on ER 404(b)). The 

State noted it was seeking to admit the prior incidents, "strictly under a 

404(b) analysis," and not for propensity purposes, or under ER 609. 2RP 

27; 3RP 10, 12. 



Defense counsel objected, arguing the prior assault convictions 

were too remote in time and "highly prejudicial," given the similarity of 

the prior assaults and the current charged assault. Defense counsel noted 

the jury would likely not be able to "erase" the prior assault convictions 

from their minds even with a limiting instruction. 3RP 13; CP 22-29. 

Defense counsel also objected to admission of the prior incident between 

Gregory and Reed, noting it was prejudicial and Gregory had never 

reported the incident to police. 3RP 14. 

The trial court overruled defense objections, finding the offered 404 

(b) evidence relevant to prove Reed's motive, Gregory's credibility and 

"why she might be afraid and initially lied," and res gestae given the 

alleged · text message incident. 4RP 2-6. The trial court noted the prior 

incidents, "cannot come in for propensity." 4RP 2. 

The court "assume[ ed]" defense counsel would want a limiting 

instruction and offered to give an instruction both when the 404(b) 

evidence was admitted and when the jury was instructed at the end of the 

case. 4 RP 3. Defense counsel did not request an instruction or explain 

she did not want one given. 

Before Reed testified the State questioned whether defense counsel 

intended to ask for a limiting instruction. Defense counsel responded, 

"It's been so long ago, I can't remember." 1 RP 297. The trial court noted 



some attorney's did not want to reemphasis evidence with a limiting 

instruction, but reminded defense counsel the court would give a limiting 

instruction if requested. llRP 297. 

Defense counsel explained she understood Reed's pnor 

convictions were not admissible for credibility purposes under ER 609 and 

that Reed would explain the 1993 and 1999 incidents during his testimony. 

llRP 298. Defense counsel failed to request a limiting instruction, 

propose her own, or explain she did not want an instruction. 

C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING 
lJNF AIRL Y PREJUDICIAL AND IRRELEV ANT 
EVIDENCE. 

Generally, evidence of other crimes is not admissible to show a 

defendant's conformity with those acts. ER 404(b). Otherwise 

inadmissible evidence may be admissible on cross-examination if the 

. witness 'opens the door' to an issue on direct examination and the 

evidence is relevant to that issue. State v. Stockton, 91 Wn. App. 35, 40, 

955 P.2d 805 (1998). The court must also weigh the prejudicial effect of 

the evidence against its probative value. Stockton, 91 Wn. App. at 41. 

In order to 'open the door,' the defendant must first introduce 

inadmissible evidence. State v. Avendano-Lopez, 79 Wn. App. 706, 715, 

904 P.2d 324 (1995), rev. denied, 129 Wn.2d 1007 (1996). But a mere 



passing reference during direct examination to a prohibited topic does not 

serve to 'open the door' to unrestricted questioning about prior 

misconduct. Stockton, 91 Wn. App. at 40 (citing Avendano-Lopez, 79 

Wn. App. at 715). 

This court reviews a decision to permit evidence under the open

door rule for abuse of discretion. State v. Bennett, 42 Wn. App. 125, 127, 

708 P.2d 1232 (1985), rev. denied, 105 Wn.2d 1004 (1986). A trial court 

abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based 

on untenable grounds. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 

1239 (1997), cert .. denied, 523 U.S. 1008 (1998). 

a. Reed Did Not 'Open the Door.' 

Application of these rules to Reed's case shows the trial court 

abused its discretion by finding Reed had opened the door to irrelevant 

and prejudicial evidence. Reed testified the 1993 assault conviction 

stemmed from "relationship that had went bad," and that he and the 

complaining witness were "living a destructive lifestyle." 12RP 306-07. 

On cross-examination, Reed explained the he and the complaining witness 

were a "couple" and the destructive lifestyle · consisted of "illegal 

activities." 12RP 365. Reed initially declined to elaborate on the details 

of the illegal activities. 12RP 365, 390. 
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The prosecutor argued Reed's testimony about his "girlfriend" 

opened the door to questioning him further about that relationship. The 

prosecutor specifically sought to question Reed about a prostitution 

relationship he had with the complaining witness and how that relationship 

led to the 1993 assault. 12RP 388. Defense counsel objected, noting there 

had never been any charge related to the alleged prostitution and therefore 

it was highly prejudicial. 12RP 389. The trial court concluded the "door 

had been opened," and allowed the prosecutor to question Reed further. 

12RP 389. Upon further cross-examination, Reed acknowledged 

involvement in prostitution as part of prior his prior lifestyle. 12RP 390-

91. 

The trial court erred in concluding Reed's testimony opened the 

door to irrelevant evidence. Stockton and Avendano-Lopez are instructive 

in this regard.

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