..

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

He explained, though, that he "never had a female ever raise their hands to 

him before." 7RP 85. 

Soon, Reed's apparent remorse ran out: around September 20, 

when Jane called him at work to say that she didn't feel well, Reed told 

her that he was sick of hearing her complain. 6RP 92; 12RP 347-48. 
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When she heard that, Jane knew that she had to leave. 6RP 92. She told 

her daughter that she was coming to Spokane. 6RP 87. 

Reed came home from work to find Jane packing. 7RP 74. He 

told her that he would leave instead, packed his things, and left. 7RP 74. 

Jane left for Spokane on September 20. 6RP 87. On September 

24, she called Reed's ceo, Westberg, and told her that she was in a safe 

place. 9RP 108. Westberg contacted a DOC domestic violence victim's 

advocate, and asked her to reach out to Jane. 9RP 34-35. When the 

advocate called Jane, Jane told her that Reed had assaulted her. 

9RP 35-36. The advocate told Detective Geandreau that Jane was ready 

to talk to law enforcement. 9RP 37-38, 71-72. 

On October 3, Geandreau spoke with Jane by telephone. 9RP 72. 

She was still staying with family near Spokane. 9RP 72. After speaking 

with Jane, Geandreau made arrangements for Reed to be arrested. 

9RP 73. Reed was arrested that same day. 12RP 38l. 

Once in jail, Reed instructed his brother Precious to obtain his cell 

phone and to hide it where no one could fmd it. 11RP 194-96. It was 

recovered by officers from Precious's vehicle in November, when he was 

arrested on unrelated charges. 9RP 15, 146. Officers examined the phone, 

but found that most of the data from September 4 through September 6-
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the critical dates surrounding the assault-was missing and could not be 

recovered. 9RP 53-56. 

Reed also instructed Precious to paWn his gold necklace. 

11RP 203-05. Officers subsequently recovered the necklace from the 

pawn shop and confIrmed that the clasp junction appeared to have been 

broken and put back together. 10RP 91; 99. 

Finally, Reed instructed Precious not to talk to the police, and to 

otherwise claim that he had been threatened by the police and knew 

nothing about the assault. llRP 175-76, 178; 12RP 383. Nevertheless, on 

October 10, Precious called Detective Geandreau and told him that Reed 

called hii:n on September 5, to say "I think I killed her" and "You better 

get out here." 11RP 225-26, 245. Then, on February 26, 2013, Geandreau 

spoke to Precious at the King County Courthouse. 11RP 246-48. 

Precious again told Geandreau that Reed had called him on September 5 to 

say, "You better get out here because I think I killed her.,,6 11RP 190-91, 

246-49. 

Additional facts and procedural history are set forth below as 

appropriate. 

6 At trial, Precious initially denied telling Detective Geandreau that Reed called him to 
say, "I think I killed her." llRP 159. Upon further questioning, he admitted telling the 
detective that, but claimed that he was high and felt threatened. 11 RP 159-62, 190-91. 
However, Precious told a defense investigator that what he said to Detective Geandreau 
was true. llRP 184-85. He also told the defense investigator that Reed had "gotten 
himself in a world of trouble." llRP 186. 
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C. ARGUMENT· 

1. REED OPENED THE DOOR TO EVIDENCE OF 
PROSTITUTION. 

Reed asserts that the trial court erred by admitting evidence that he 

was previously involved with prostitutes, and that the admission of this 

evidence requires reversal of his conviction for fIrst-degree assault. But 

Reed himself elicited evidence, on cross-examination, of his previous 

involvement in prostitution. He also sought to create a half-truth on direct 

examination, testifying that he was merely involved in relationships that 

had gone bad. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it ruled 

that Reed had opened the door. lfthe trial court erred, the error was 

harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence as a whole. Reed's claim 

should be rejected. 

a. Additional Facts. 

On cross-examination-in a strategic attempt to paint Jane as 

jealous and Vindictive-Reed's attorney asked Jane whether she was ever 

jealous of his involvement with other women. 6RP 104. Her answer 

alluded to Reed making money from prostitutes: 

Defense: Were you jealous that he was talking to another 
woman? · 

Jane: Not at all. Because when I got with him in 
Los Angeles, he had another woman. She was 
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injail. And I know what he claims to be as his 
profession in life. And so it's like ifhe had 
another girl, he's coming home to me every 
night, I don't care if he gets money from another 
girl, so what? I mean, that's how we lived. It's 
kind of sick now. 

6RP 104 (emphasis added). Reed did not object to Jane's answer or 

request a limiting or curative instruction. 6RP 104. 

Later on cross-examination, Reed's attorney again questioned Jane 

as to whether she was jealous of Reed. 7RP 62-63. Again, she answered 

with a reference to Reed's involvement in prostitution: 

Defense: Did you in the past accuse Mr. Reed of cheating 
on you? 

Jane: No. 

Defense: And you never accused him of being with other 
women? 

Jane: Like I said before, ma'am, our relationship was 
like ifhe had other women, it wasn't a problem 
with me. When I got with him, he had another 
woman. I don't care about that. Because I know 
it's not about a sex thing, it's about a money 
thing. So 1 don't have a problem with that. 

7RP 62-63 (emphasis added). Reed again did not object or request an 

instruction. 7RP 62-63. 

Reed took the stand and testified in his own defense. 12RP 

301-56,359-87,390-96,398-401. He embraced his criminal past, 

admitting that he was previously "living another side of the law, drugs, 
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alcohol, just a self-destruct [sic], self-defeating lifestyle, from '80 pretty 

much all the way to '99." 12RP 303. But he sought to distance himself 

from his past, testifying that after being imprisoned twice for assault, he 

had made an effort to change his life for the better. 12RP 307, 367. 

On direct examination, Reed described the circumstances of his 

first domestic assault conviction: 

Defense: Now, you had a 1993 case, or there's been some 
mention of a 1993 case. Can you describe what 
that case was about? 

Reed: 

12RP 306. 

Yes. I was in a relationship that had went bad. 
We were living a destructive lifestyle, and it was 
a bunch of cheating on both ends. 

And the young lady that I was charged with 
assaulting, I had ran into her in the streets, and 
went up to try to talk to her; she didn't talk to 
me. 

And I wound up breaking the window, and in the 
process, she got cut by some of the glass, and I 
was taken to jail for it. And I pled guilty, and 
did my time, and took responsibility for what I 
did, because that's how I was living back then. 

Reed's attorney also asked him about his 1999 domestic assault 

conviction: 

Defense: Now, what about-you had a case in 1999. 

Reed: . Yes. 
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Defense: Can you tell the jury a little bit about that case? 

Reed: That case was a little more in depth, but similar 
in [sic] the '93 case. I was really heavy into 
alcohol and drugs. And, also, in the '99 case, 
I was still involved in alcohol and drugs, but in 
a deeper depth. And, also, the person that I 
assaulted was on drugs, also, which was the ftrst 
time I had ever got involved with someone that 
also used drugs with me. And that's what the 
case-it all-that's just one of the worst 
experiences of my life. 

Defense: Okay. 

Reed: And I went and I did-l went to prison, and I 
decided to change my life, and I got out. That 
was in 1999, and I was released in 2012. 

12RP306-07. 

Reed referenced the 1993 assault again, later on direct 

examination, testifying that there was a misunderstanding when Hope 

and Jane thought that he was sending text messages and laughing about 

committing that assault. 12RP 329. 

Prior to beginning cross-examination, the State requested 

clarification as to whether Reed had opened the door to further detail 

about the circumstances surrounding his previous assault convictions. 

12RP 356. The trial court ruled that Reed had opened the door to further 

detail about the 1993 conviction. 12RP 357. Reed did not object, but 

apparently conceded that he had opened the door, "[b ]ecause that was 
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related to the text messages." 12RP 357. However, the trial court ruled 

that the State could only explore the 1999 conviction to the extent that it 

was "a serious assault on a woman." 12RP 357. 

The prosecutor then questioned Reed about his 1993 conviction: 

Prosecutor: The 1993 relationship you had-

Reed: Yes. 

Prosecutor: -you mentioned that it was a relationship that 
went bad? 

Reed: Yes. 

[ ... ] (Exhibits shown to witness) 

Prosecutor: Now, what was your relationship with the victim 
in this case? 

Reed: We were in that-that destructive lifestyle. 

Prosecutor: What was your relationship with her? What was 
her relationship with you? 

Reed: Well, we were a couple, if that's what you're 
wanting me to say, or are fishing for. 

I don't understand. What was the relationship? 
We were into a negative lifestyle which 
committed-I mean, which consisted of illegal 
activities. 

Prosecutor: What sort of illegal activities? 

Reed: 1'd rather not go into detail. Do I need to? 

Prosecutor: We can take that up later .... 
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12RP 364-65. Reed did not object to the prosecutor's cross-examination. 

12RP 364-65. 

Reed went on to admit that he had accosted his ex-girlfriend in 

public, jumped on the hood of her car, broke out the windshield, and that 

she was stabbed during the encounter. 12RP 366. He pleaded gUilty to 

third-degree assault and was imprisoned for 13 months. 12RP 367. He 

also admitted to "seriously assault[ing]" another girlfriend in 1999, and to 

being imprisoned as a result of that conviction until 2012. 12RP 367-68. 

Outside the presence of the jury, the prosecutor again asked to 

explore the defendant's 1993 conviction in further detaiL 12RP 388. The 

prosecutor argued that Reed had testified that the victim in that case was 

his girlfriend, but that 

[i]n actuality ... he was her pimp. He didn't want to answer that 
question. And she did not put money on his books, and that's why 
he had assaulted her, and I wanted to go into that. But I wanted to 
make sure and get a ruling from the Court first. 

12RP 388. Reed objected, arguing that "this case ended up as an 

Assault-3, and there's no charge of any type of prostitution related crime, 

and we believe it's highly prejudicial." 12RP 389. The prosecutor 

countered that Jane had already testified about the lifestyle that both she 

and Reed had lived, presumably referring to Jane's testimony about 
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Reed's involvement in prostitution.? 12RP 389. He added that Reed had 

also testified about this prior lifestyle. 12RP 389. The trial court ruled 

that the defense had opened the door to evidence of Reed's prior 

involvement in prostitution. 12RP 389. 

Cross-examination continued: 

Prosecutor: Mr. Reed, I was asking you earlier questions 
about the 1993 case. When I asked you, you 
initially said that it was a woman that you had a 
relationship with, the victim in that case. 

Reed: Yes. 

Prosecutor: And I asked you what that relationship was, and 
your answer was that you would rather not 

. answer it; right? 

Reed: Yes it was. That was my answer. 

Prosecutor: What was that relationship? 

Reed: I still would rather not answer it. 

Prosecutor: Your Honor, I would ask thathe be required to 
answer the question. 

Court: 

Reed: 

I'm instructing you to answer the question. 

I had prostitutes back then. That was part of the 
lifestyle that I was living in my past. 

. 7 This understanding is confmned by defense counsel's contemporaneous request to offer 
evidence of Jane's own involvement in prostitution, at that time. 12RP 389. The trial 
court denied that request. 12RP 389-90. 
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12RP 390. Reed went on to testify that he had assaulted her because he 

was upset at her for leaving him. 12RP 391. He denied assaulting her 

because she wouldn't give him money. 12RP 391. He testified again that, 

since that case, he had turned his life around. 12RP 392. 

h. Standard Of Review. 

Otherwise inadmissible evidence is admissible on 

cross-examination if the defendant "opens the door" and the evidence 

is relevant to some issue at trial. State v. Stockton, 91 Wn. App. 35,40, 

955 P.2d 805 (1998). A trial court has considerable discretion to 

determine whether the door has been opened. Ang v. Martin, 118 

Wn. App. 553, 562, 76 P.3d 787 (2003), ajJ'd, 154 Wn.2d 477, 114 PJd 

637 (2005). Its ruling will be reversed only upon an abuse of discretion. 

State v. Ortega, 134 Wn. App. 617, 626, 142 P.3d 175 (2006). The 

appellate court must find that no reasonable judge would have ruled as did 

the trial court. State v. Pete, 152 Wn.2d 546,552,98 P.3d 803 (2004). 

Erroneous rulings that the door has been opened are still subject to 

harmless error analysis. Stockton, 91 Wn. App. at 43. An evidentiary 

error is harmless if the improperly admitted evidence is of minor 
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significance in reference to the overall, overwhelming evidence as a 

whole. State v. Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311, 351, 150 P.3d 59 (2006). 

The Washington Supreme Court has explained that the purpose of 

the "open door" rule is to prevent a party from deceiving the fact-fmder 

with half-truths: 

It would be a curious rule of evidence which allowed one party to 
bring up a subject, drop it at a point where it might appear 
advantageous to him, and then bar the other party from all further 
inquiries about it. Rules of evidence are designed to aid in 
establishing the truth. To close the door after receivmg only a part 
of the evidence not only leaves the matter suspended in air at a 
point markedly advantageous to the party who opened the door, 
but might well limit the proof to half-truths. Thus, it is a sound 
general rule that, when a party opens up a subject of inquiry on 
direct or cross-examination, he contemplates that the rules will . 
permit cross-examination or redirect examination, as the case may 
be, within the scope of the examination in which the subject matter 
was first introduced. 

State v. Gefeller, 76 Wn.2d 449,455,458 P.2d 17 (1969). 

c. The Trial Court Properly Ruled That Reed 
Opened The Door To Evidence Of Prostitution. 

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it ruled that Reed 

had opened the door to evidence of his involvement with prostitutes. Reed 

twice elicited evidence of his involvement with prostitutes, when he 

questioned Jane about whether she was jealous of his history with other 
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women.8 6RP 104; 7RP 62-63. She responded that he claimed a certain 

"profession," in which he "had" other women and made money off them. 

6RP 104; 7RP 62-63. Reed did not object to this testimony. 6RP 104; 

7RP 62-63. Instead, he sought to create a half-troth when he minimized 

this history on direct examination, referring to only being involved in a 

"relationship that had went bad." 12RP 306. He did not attempt to hide 

his effort to create a half-troth-he expressly refused to answer questions 

about this relationship on cross-examination and explained that "1' d rather 

not go into detail." 12RP 365. The trial court had to instruct him to 

answer the prosecutor's question. 12RP 390. 

This evidence was also relevant to a material issue at trial .. The 

State's primary purpose in offering evidence of Reed's history of violence 

against women was to explain Jane's reasonable fear and her behavior, 

in the aftermath of the assault. 3RP 2-3,8-12; CP 131-37 (State's 

Supplemental Memorandum on ER 404(b)). Jane knew that Reed 

employed and dated prostitutes, and that he assaulted at least two of his 

previous girlfriends. 6RP 81-82, 104; 7RP 62-63. A reasonable judge 

8 Reed asserts that his testimony about a relationship "gone bad" was a mere passing 
reference, insufficient to open the door. Br. of Appellant, at 18. But Reed ignores Jane's 
earlier testimony on cross-examination, elicited by the defense, that he was previously 
involved with prostitutes. While the trial court did not expressly rely on Jane's testimony 
in ruling that the door had been opened, a trial court may be affirmed on any basis 
supported by the record. State v. Gutierrez, 92 Wn. App. 343, 347,961 P.2d 974 (1998); 
RAP 2.5(a). 
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could have found a connection between Reed's pimping activities, his 

violent history toward women, and Jane's reasonable fear of his behavior. 

While evidence of Reed's involvement in prostitution may not 

initially have been admissible,9 it became admissible when he opened the 

door on both direct and cross-examination. At the very least, because it 

cannot be said that no reasonable judge would have ruled as did the trial 

court, the trial court did not abuse its discretion. Reed's claim should be 

rejected. 

Even if the trial court abused its discretion by ruling that Reed 

opened the door to evidence of prostitution, Reed's conviction should be 

affirmed because any error was harmless. The evidence at issue was of 

minor significance in reference to the overall, overwhelming evidence as a 

whole. See Brockob, 159 Wn.2d at 351. 

As the trial court observed at sentencing, it was "obvious" that 

Reed committed this assault. 14RP 25. Jane's last memory before losing

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